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Central America and South American ports. In

1884 he settled at St. Louis, Mo., with Linberg &

Garland in the real estate and mining business

and in 1888-1889 he had charge of the opening

and developing of the American Mining Com

pany's properties in Saline County, Arkansas. In

1889 he married Etta Gregg Whitney, sister of

Henry M. Whitney of Cortland, New York, and

the following year on Mr. Whitney's invitation

came east and became identified with the busi

ness of The H. M. WhitneyWagon Co., ofwhich

he is now secretary and treasurer.

Photo by Butler. THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The Presbyterian Church. The first steps to

ward the organization of the Presbyterian church

of Cortland were taken on Nov. 25, 1824, when a

meeting was held at the court house
in Cortland,

at which Daniel Budlong was chairman and David

Joline was clerk, and at which a committee was

appointed to report a constitution and by-laws for

the projected enterprise. On Dec. 2, 1824, a sec

ond meeting was held at the same place, atwhich

the societywas formally organized under thename

of
"
The PresbyterianChurch and Societyof Cort

land
Village."

At this time six trustees were

elected, as follows: William Elder, William Ran

dall, Prosper Cravath, Salmon Jewett, Moses

Kinne andLemuelDada. This was but the society.

The church was organized on April 16, 1825, with .,

six members, as follows: David Joline and hiswife

Lucetta, JohnA. Freer and hiswife Rachael, Eliza

Dudley and Persis Avery. The first elders of the

churchwere LemuelDada, David Joline and Gard

ner K. Clark. In April, 1826, steps were taken

toward the building of a church edifice, and the

trustees were appointed a building committee. A

lot was secured from Jonathan Hubbard on the

present site of the church, and pledges were made

amounting to a little over

$3,000, payable one-third in

cash and the remainder in

stock andgrain. Thebuilder

was Simeon Rouse. The

churchwas dedicated Jan. 1,

1828, and continued as the

place of worship for the so

ciety, though twice repaired

and enlarged, till June 2,

1889, when the last service

washeld. The following day
the work of tearing it down
began preparatory to the

erection of the present very
handsome and commodious

edifice of stone, which was

constructedat a costof about

$48,000, andwhichwas dedi
cated May 28, 1890. The

auditorium has a seating ca

pacity of 1,000, and the Sun

day-school room in the rear

of about 450. Themember

ship of the church at its last

annual meeting (April 6,

1899) was 624, and of the

Sunday-school 630. So rap

idly is the Sunday-school

growing that an architect is

now preparing plans for an

addition to the Sunday-

school room to bemade next

summer, which will add to

its seating capacity about

one-third. The entire list of

pastors of the church, with

their terms of service, is as

follows: Rev. William Ba

con, May, 1825 May, 1827;
Rev. Luke Lyons, October,

1827 June, 1831; Rev. Na

thaniel E. Johnson, Novem

ber, 1832 November, 1834;
Rev. John A. Foot, June,
1835March, 1837; Rev. Pe
ter Lockwood, October, 1837
July, 1842; Rev. Hercules

Dunham, September, 1842

, 1856; Rev. Ova H. Sey
mour, January, 1858 Sep-

Irving L. Beman, October,

Samuel F. Bacon, October,

Stand.

tember, 1863; Rev.

1863

May, 1866; Rev.

1866October, 1868; Rev. SamuelH. Howe, D. D.,

October, 1869 September, 1872; Rev. Thomas

Street, D. D., June,
1873October, 1878; Rev. Al

fred J. Hutton, D. D., February, 1879July, 1881;

Rev. James L. Robertson, D. D., November, 1882

October, 1896; Rev. John Timothy Stone, Novem

ber, 1896. The present officers of the church are:

Ruling elders, Lewis Bouton, Alonzo D. Blodgett,
Henry F. Benton, Seymour M. Ballard, Marcus H.

McGraw; Adolphus F. Tanner, Alfred Greene and
Benjamin L, Webb; deacons, Henry C. Lovell,
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Horace Dibble

comparatively
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Charles W. Collins. Arthur B. Nelson and Henry
B. Greenman. Trustees David F.Wallace, presi

dent; F. D. Smith, secretary; William S. Cope-

land, treasurer; Calvin P.Walrad, Chester F.Wick-

wire and Theodore H. Wickwire.

The Earliest IndustriesCortland lays claim

to the first practical nail making machinery put

into operation. About 1815 William Sherman

equipped the rear part of a saw mill standing on

the road between Cortland and Homer with ma

chinery which was self-feeding and from the iron

that went through cut the nails into the required

shape and length and turned them out headed

and with the letter S stamped in the head. The

sawmill was owned and operated by McClure

and both establishments used the same water

power. In 1824 Martin Merrick supplanted the

nail industry with wool carding and cloth dress

ing machinery which he carried on until 1833
when it passed into the hands of

who conducted the industry until

recent years. The build

ings or part of them now

occupied by C ooper Bros. I
were erected in 1823 by I
Nelson Spencer for a paper |
mill, only coarsewrapping
paperbeing made. In 1832

or '33 Speed & Sinclair

took the property, which

had been laying idle some

time, and made fine paper,
andin 1847 Daniel Bradford

assumed control, the busi

ness having for a time been
conducted by the employes
on the co-operative basis.

In 1864 the old place passed

into the hands of Francis

Sears, John B. Cottrell and

Stephen D. Freer, who

converted it into a flax seed

oil mill. The firm dis

solved in 1866, and in 1871

Mr. Freer gave up the busi

ness. The mills then lay
idle until occupied by
Cooper Bros. In the sev

enties violins were manu

factured in Cortland by
Lewis Hannum. Jonathan

Hubbard built a grist mill

near the banks of the river

in 1802 or '3, which passed

into the possession ofHoraceWhite in 1824, after

wards Abram and then his son Ebenezer Mudge;

next, Carr & Moses, and later Daniel Rose and

finally Thomas F. Brayton. Sylvester Blair con

structed a small building near Otter creek in

1829, which was used for the manufacture ofpot

tery, the clay being brought in from New Jersey
on flat boats. In 1834 Mason & Russell bought

the business, which in 1839 passed into the
hands

of Chollar & Darby. Ten years later they sold it

to Madison Woodruff who in 1858 built larger

buildings on Groton-ave. and who continued the

business with varying fortunes down to the

eighties. In 1832 Daniel Larned established

works for the manufacture of agricultural imple

ments.

Reverend John Timothy Stone, pastor of the

Presbyterian church of Cortland, was born in the

townofStowe (Maynard) Mass., on September

7, 1868. He is the son of Rev. Timothy Dwight

Porter Stone, who spent a
large portion ofhis life

in the Congregational ministry in
eastern Massa

chusetts. When seven or eight years of age Mr.

Stone's home was transferred to Albany, N. Y.

He graduated from the Albany High school in

1887, and entered Amherst college the following
fall, graduating from that institution in the class

of 1891, of which he was class orator. He was a

member of the Delta Kappa Epsilon fraternity.

In the fall of the same year he became a stu

dent in Auburn Theological seminary, gradu

ating with the class of 1894. His first charge was

in Utica, N. Y., as pastor of the Olivet Presby
terian church, settling there immediately upon

graduation from Auburn. He accepted a call to

the Presbyterian church in Cortland in the fall of

1896, where he is now located. In the fall of

1895 Mr. Stone was married to Miss Bessie Par

sons of Toronto, the youngest daughter of the

Rev. Henry M. Parsons, D. D., pastor of the Knox

Presbyterian church of that city. They have one

child, Elizabeth Parsons, born October 13, 1898.
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List of Postmasters. (AddSeepage46)On

the 19th day ofMay, 1814, the Cortlandville post

office was established. OliverWiswell, a lawyer

and a man of importance in the early history of

this town was first postmaster. The mail,which

was small was brought from.Syracuse once a day

by a four-horse stage coach. Its arrival was an

nounced by the vigorous tooting of a horn from

the upper end of Main street to the post office

door. This was the only enlivening event of the

day. A person was considered fortunate who re

ceived one letter a month and in order to get that

had to pay as high as twenty-five cents for post

age. The people of Cortland since that time

have been served by about 20 postmasters. They
are as follows, giving dates of service so far as

can be learned and location of post office:

OliverWisewell, 1814 ; SamuelNelson, 1822-1823;
Charles Lyndes, 1823-1824; John Lyndes, 1824-

1825; Roswell Randall, 1825-1830, (Eagle block);
Canfield Marsh, 1830 ; Richard Schouten,

1841; Joel B. Hubbard, 1841-1841; Tercuis
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Eels, 1841-1842; Danforth Merrick, 1842-1842;

Andrew Dickson, 1842
,
(corner Main and

Port Watson street); Hiram Crandall, 1861,

(rear of Randall block); Horace A. Jarvis, 1861-

1878, (rear of the National bank, moved toWal

lace building); James A. Nixon, 1878-1886, (moved

to Standard building); James F. Maybury, 1886-

1890; S. M. Ballard, 1890-1894; B. B. Jones, 1894-

1896; C. F. Thompson, 1896-1897; Virginia Jones,

1897-1899; Andrew S. Brown, 1899. The office now

sions." The library was the outcome of a most

earnest desire on the part of the pastor that his

people should be furnished with the means for

"intelligent
interest" in missions.

Ladies'
HomeMission andChurch Aid Society

was first organized in the early history ofthe Presby
terian church as "The

Ladies'

Sewing
Society,"

and

was so called until September, 1878, when it was

changed to its present name. Until recently the

work has been carried on with money received

Photos by Hyatt. THE CLERGYMEN OF CORTLAND.
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sends to Uncle Sam's treasury, annually, $10,000

net over and above all expenses. The weight of

mails dispatched for 45 days beginning Oct. 3,

ending Nov. 6, 1899, 20,636 lbs. 15 oz.

TheMissionLibrary, Presbyterian church, was

opened March 3, 1898, with 137 volumes, and 48

have since been added by purchase and gift. It is

dedicated to the memory of Miss Eliza Vennette

Stephens, "who was deeply interested in mis-

from entertainments and suppers. At present the

money used is entirely from voluntary offerings,
a part of which consists of monthly pledges. The

meetings are held the third Friday in each month,
except July and August. In November a Praise

service isiheld at which time a special Thank offer

ing is given. In the fall boxes of clothing and

other necessary articles are sent, one to a Home

Missionary and one to the Freedmen.
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THREE DESIRABLE RESIDENTIAL STREETS.

Rickard Street, (Hyatt, Photo.) Argyle Place, (Harris, Photo.) Union Street, (Harris, Photo.)
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Cortland Public SchoolsThe Cortland Union

Free school, District No. i, was organized by the

passage of a special act of the Legislature in 1880.

This district was made up from districts lying
within the corporate limits of the village of Cort

land. Prior to this time the public schools of

Cortland were a part of the common school dis

trict system of the town. The first school build

ing erected within the limits of the village of

Cortland stood on the site afterwards occupied

by the old Eagle hotel, now known as the Mes

senger House corner. We find the records of a

frame school building on Port Watson street and of

a frame and of a cobblestone school building on

Church street. The cobblestone building was

erected in 1845 and we think it is the oldest of

these buildings judging from the deeds on record

in the County Clerk's office. It was also aban

doned last ofthe old school buildings as itwas only
discontinued in 1892. During the first half of the

century the schools which we term secondary

ings of Cortland are now designated as the First

Ward (Owego St.), Second Ward (Schermerhorn

St.), and Third Ward (Pomeroy St.) schools; and

the Central school. The First, Second and Third

Ward schools are two-story frame buildings, well

lighted and heated and providedwith single desks

and slate blackboards. The First and Second

Ward buildings have good systems of ventilation

and modern improvements in the basement. They
have well kept lawns, fences and walks. The

First and ThirdWards are four-roomed buildings.

The Second Ward school has just been enlarged

to a six-room building with a well-equipped kin

dergarten in the front room on the first floor. The

building is heated by steam. The Central school

building is a large brick structurewith ten rooms.
It is equipped with all themodern improvements,

including the "Smead
System"

of heating and

ventilation. In this building are located the

grades, the academic department, the superin

tendent's office and the public school library. The

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION, 1900.-[See Keywith Sk. P.

schools were in those days mostly private. Cort

land had her Female Seminary started in 1828 and

located on the Wallace corner, at Main and Court

streets. This institution for girls flourished for a

number of years. She also had her
boys'

Poly
technic which in 1842 became the Cortlandville

academy. This school flourished until 1867. In

1869 the academywas closed, thebuilding removed

and the lot conveyed to the state on condition

that an academic department be maintained in

the new State Normal school. In 1882 the Board

of Education of Cortland began the erection of

two new school buildings, the first of the build

ings now in use in the public schools, one located

on Schermerhorn street and the other located on

Owego street. These schools were opened in

September of 1883. In the spring of 1884 they
began the erection of a third building on Pom

eroy street. This school was opened in Septem

ber, 1884. In 1891 an appropriation was voted to

build the Central school, which was located on

Railroad street. This building was opened for

school purposes in April, 1893. The school build-

district owns about $500 worth of school appara

tus and has a library of 1362 volumes valued at

$1,500. It has a supplementary reading library
of 450 volumes. The school buildings', including
the superintendent's office, are connected with

the public telephone service. The first superin

tendent of the public schools of Cortland was

Prof. Chas. S. Sanderson, elected in Nov., 1883.

He resigned his position in 1886 and Col. Frank
Place was elected to fill the vacancy. He resigned
in 1893. Prof- C. V. Coon was elected to the po

sition and held it until July, 1896. He was fol

lowed by the present superintendent, F. E. Smith.
There are twenty-six teachers employed in the

public schools. The teachers are all graduates of
Normal or professional schoolswith from three to
fifteen years ofexperience in teaching. Eighteen
of our teachers receive $12 per week and the rest

of them $10 and $11 per week.
The Board of Education consists of nine mem

bers, each having the title
" Commissioner."

They hold monthly meetings to transact the busi
ness of the district. The condition of the pub-
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lie schools to-day speaks for theirwise and liberal
public policy. It is their aim to make the Cort

land public school as good and as progressive as

any system ofschools to be found in the state. The

names of the Board of Education and teachers of

the public schools are as follows:

Board of Education.

Albertis A. Carley, President (i)
Charles F. Brown, (2) and
N. Jay Peck, (3) term expires, 1900.

Ferdinand D. Smith, (4)
Edward Keator, (5) and
Wm. J. Greenman, (6) term expires, 1901.

George J. Mager, (7)
AlbertW. Edgcomb, (8) and
Milton H. Yale, (9) term expires, 1902.

James R. Birdlebough, (10) truant officer.

Third Ward School.

Lulu M. Forrest, (23)
Olive H. Parker, (24)

Mary Louise Fairchild, (25)
Mary E. Woodbury, (26)
Rosabelle V. Townsend, (27)

F. E. Smith.

The Fortnightly Club.On the afternoon of

Nov. 14, 1894, a number of ladies met for the pur

pose of forming a literary society. The outcome

of this meeting was the organization of the Fort

nightly club of Cortland, N. Y. The club held

its first meeting Nov. 28, 1894, and the meetings

have been held fortnightly since that time from

September to June of each year. The constitu

tion gives as the object of the society, "the de-

Butler, Photo.

Faculty.

Ferdinand E.Smith, A. B., Supt. (1).

Central School Teachers.

Fannie M. Galusha, (2)
L. May McCulloch, (3)
Ada J. Wallace, (4)
Mary E. Williams, (5)
Anna M. Knapp (6)
Anne Flanagan (7)
Clara A*. Perry, (8)
Lena R. Conable, (9)
Ella C. Garrity, (10)
Ella M. Van Hoesen, (11)

Special Teachers.

Mary B. Bentley, Drawing, (12)
Elizabeth M. Turner, Music, (13)

First Ward School.

Anna M. Sharp, (14)
Mabel L. Graves, (15)
Nettie E. Cole, (16)
Mary E. Van Bergen, (17)

Second Ward School.

Anna C. George, (18)
Mary C. Van Gorden, (19)
Grace Mead, (20)
Clara A. Benedict, (21)
E. LouiseAdams, Kindergarten, (22)

CENTRAL SCHOOL.

velopment and improvement of literary taste and

culture to be sought in the study of art, litera

ture and kindred subjects." Literature and cur

rent topics have been studied each year. 1899-1900

is devoted to the study of art. The club organized

with nineteen members as follows : Miss Harriet

Allen, Miss Cornelia L- Brown, Mrs. W. R. Cole,
Miss Belle Fitzgerald, Miss Maude Fitzgerald,
Miss Carrie D Halbert, Mrs. L. M- Head, Mrs. G.

P. Hollenbeck, Mrs. J. G. Jarvis, Mrs. A. M. Jew

ett, Miss Clara Keator, Miss Martha McGraw,
Mrs. H. L. Smith, Mrs. G. A. Tisdale, Miss Eliza

beth Turner, Mrs. James Walsh, Miss Cornelia

A. White, Miss Mary H. White, Miss Leah Wal

lace. The membership was limited to twenty at

first, later it was extended to twenty-five, and at

present the limit is thirty. As a fitting tribute to
her zeal as one of the prime movers in the or

ganization of the Fortnightly club, Miss Belle

Fitzgerald was chosen its first president. The

following is a list of the presidents and the work

taken up with each respectively: 1894-1895, Miss

Belle Fitzgerald, Reading ofShakespeare's Plays;
1895-1896, Miss Carrie D. Halbert, AYear in Eng
land; 1896-1897, Miss Elizabeth Turner, English
Authors; 1897-1898, Miss Cornelia A. White,
American Authors; 1898-1899, Miss Maude Fitz-
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gerald, American Events and Literature from

Civil War to present day ; 1899-
1900, Mrs. J. G.

Jarvis, Art in Italy. Three social events are held

during the year. Two are limited to club mem

bersone arranged by the entertainment commit
tee, and the other, under the name of

' '

Presi

dent's
Day,"

in charge of the outgoing president.

The third entertainment is in the form of a play,
and friends of the society are invited. During the
five years of the club's existence death has twice

entered its ranks. Miss Belle Fitzgerald died Aug
31, 1898, and Mrs. R. S. Robertson, one of the hon
orary members, died April 3, 1899. The present

officers are : President, Mrs. J. G. Jarvis Vice-

president, Mrs. H. L. Smith ; Secretary, Mrs. F.
I. Graham ; Treasurer, Mrs. G. W. McGraw.
The list of active mem

bers is as follows: Miss

HarrietAllen* Mrs. G. H.

Ames, Mrs. Clara H. Ben

edict, Mrs. W. M. Booth,
Miss Cornelia L. Brown,
Mrs. W. R. Cole, Miss

Maude Fitzgerald, Mrs.

F. I. Graham, Miss Car

rie D. Halbert, Miss Celia

Hinman, Mrs. G. P. Hol-

lenbeck, Mrs. J. G. Jar

vis, Mrs. O. A. Kinne3',
Miss L. May McCulloch,
Mrs. F. L. McDowell,
Mrs. G. W.McGraw, Miss

Martha McGraw, Miss

Grace Mead, Mrs. J. G.

Osgood, Mrs.H. L. Smith,
Mrs. Edward Stilson,
Miss Lillie H. Stone,Miss

Elizabeth Turner, Miss

Edith Turner, Mrs. F. M.

Van Hoesen, Miss Ella

M. VanHoesen, Mrs. Jas.

Walsh, Mrs. B. L. Webb,
Miss Cornelia A. White,
Miss Mary H. White.

HonoraryMembers: Mrs.

C. W. Aiken, Mrs. Char

lotte N. Head, Mrs. A.M.

Jewett, Mrs. C. A. Moser,
Mrs. T. F. Ward.

lodge and installed the officers who had been

elected : M. W. Grand Master, Clinton F. Paige;
R. W. Dept. Master, Orrin Welch ; R. W. Grand

Sen. Warden, Stiles M. Rusk ; Grand Jun. War

den, Charles W. Snow; Grand Treas., J. G. Chap
man; Grand Sect'y, Geo. J. Gardner; Grand Sen.

Dea., Lilley; Grand Jun. Dea.,
Smith. The following were installed the first

officers of the lodge : R. Holland Duell, W. Mas

ter; Stephen R. Hunter, Sen. Warden; Franklin

Goodyear, Jun. Warden ; Levi R. Gleason, Treas
urer; Daniel H. Burr, Sect'y. The remaining
officers are not mentioned in the records. The
lodge continued to meet in the Odd Fellows
rooms in the old Lyman block opposite the Cort
land House for several years, then it was moved

Butler, Photo.

Masonic The first meeting of Cortlandville

Lodge, 470, F. & A. M. was held in the Odd Fel

lows hall, Cortland, April 2, 1859, by virtue of a

dispensation having been granted by the Grand

Lodge of the State ofNew York. The petitioners

from Homer and Marathon lodges and Ancient

Masons were the following charter members :

Ancient, Joseph Reynolds, Horace Dibble, C. L.

Mattison ; Homer Lodge, R. Holland Duell,

Stephen R. Hunter, Franklyn Goodyear; Mara

thon Lodge, Horace L. Green, C. B. Chittenden,
Oscar Allis, Abram P. Smith, James A. Schermer

horn, Samuel L. Thompson, Oscar V. Eldridge,
Benoni Bullman, Josiah Hart, Jr. At the first

meeting the following officers presided : Master,
Wm. B. Beck, Master Homer Lodge; S. W., Isaac

Smith, Homer Lodge; J. W., B, Bullman, Mara

thon Lodge; Treas., Franklyn Goodyear, Mara

thon Lodge ; Sect'y, H. L. Green, Marathon

Lodge; Josiah Hart, Jr.. J. D.; O. H. Allis, Sen

tinel. It was moved and carried that the By Laws

of Homer Lodge be adopted to govern the

lodge at present. The lodge worked under the

dispensation till the following June when a war

rant was granted and June 29, 1859, the following
grand officers were present and constituted the

OWEGO STREET SCHOOL.

to the building known as Masonic Hall block.

These rooms being too small, another move was

made in 1891 to the present location in the Hop
kins block. There are now over 200 members in

good standing. The lodge records show over 600

names but deaths, suspensions and dimits leave

about its present membership and still adding to

its rolls. The Past Masters : R. Holland Duell,

(deceased); S. R. Hunter, (deceased); E. D. Van

Slyck, (deceased); Jonathan Hubbard, (deceased);
Dewitt C. McGraw, (deceased); O. Hitchcock,
(deceased); Wm. W. Gale, (deceased); A. D.

Waters, (deceased); H. O. Jewett; M. A. Rice, (de

ceased); H. T. Dana, John W. Suggett, W. D. Tis

dale, S. S. Knox, Geo. S. Sands, Jas. R. Schermer

horn, George L. Warren, Abram Crawley, F. C.

Melvin, Benj. Peters. The present officers are : T.

T. Bates, Master; Frank P. Hakes, S. War.; C. S.
Bull, J. War.; George L. Warren, Treasurer; M.

J. Grady, Secretary; Benj. Peters, Sen. Dea.; E. W.

Loomis, Jr. Dea.; S. S. Knox, S. M. C; Wilfred

Kelley, J. M. C; Rev. A. Watkins, Chaplain;
George L. Warren, Marshall; A. B. Kingsley, Or

ganist; Chas. F. Brown, Chorister; Robert Otto,
Tiler; S. S. Knox, G. W. Bradford, Geo. L. War

ren, Trustees.
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CortlandChapter, No. 194, Royal Arch Masons,

was constituted by Seymour H. Stone, D. G.

High Priest, April 30, 1866, by virtue of a war

rant issued by the Grand Royal Arch Chapter of

the State of New York held at Albany, Feb. 6,

1866. The first officers were: Roswell K. Bourne,
High Priest; Samuel Adams, King; George L.

Warren, Scribe; John W. Osgood, C. ofH.; Wm.

H. Crane, P. S.; G. W. Davenport, R. A. C; R.
Walworth Bourne, M. 1st. V.; Horace Dibble,
Treas. Several companions were present from

Washington Chapter at Homer. Geo. L. Warren

acted as secretary. The following petitions were

received at this the first meeting : Josiah Hart,
S. R. Hunter, A. D. Waters, W. D. Tisdale, D. C.

McGraw, C. W. Kinne, J. H. Knapp, C. P. Cole,
A. Sager and A. D. Reed, who were elected at the
next meeting and received the M. M. degree,
assisted by several companions fromHomer Chap
ter. In September following R. W. Jos. B.

-Chaffee was sent to the Chapter as Grand Lec

turer to instruct the officers in their duties. Thus

the Chapter started out on its work and has con-

W. S. Copeland, Treas. ; D.

P. Van Bergen, St. Bearer;

Bearer; R. E. Hill, Warder.

tions were received at the

De Gan, J. J.

Wright, W. D

H. Burr, Recorder;
E. M. Seacord, Sw.

The following peti-

first conclave: Louis

Taggart, Oliver Hitchcock, B T.

Tisdale, John A. Freer, R. C. Shat-

tuck. The following Commanderies were present
at the conclave and assisted in the ceremonies:

Central City of Syracuse, Malta of Binghamton,
St. Augustine of Ithaca, and ever after the most
fraternal relations have always existed between

these Commanderies. At the next conclave the

petitions were acted upon and the candidates

were made Knights Templars with the exception

of W. D. Tisdale. O. Hitchcock was elected sen

tinel and always acted in that place till failing
health required him to decline the office. The

Past Commanders are : Wm. H. Crane, Geo. L.

Warren, E. M. Seacord, H. T. Dana, A. B. Nelson,
Albert Allen, Frank P. Hakes. The officers 1899 :

A. M. Jewett, Commander; F. P. Hakes, Gen

eralissimo; T. T. Bates, Capt. General; H. T.

Dana, Prel.;- C. F. Thompson, Treas.; Geo. H.

Kennedy, Recorder; M.

E. Sarvay, Sen. Warden;
Bert W. Rood. Jun. War

den; H. D. Hunt, Stand
ard Bearer; A. Fisher,
SwordBearer; Geo. J. Ma

ger, Warder; C. E. In-

galls, First Guard; T. P.

Bristol, SecondGuard; J.
R. Birdlebough, Third

Guard; Robt. Otto, Sen

tinel; R. Bushby, W. H.

Crane, C. F. Brown, Trus
tees.

Butler, Photo. POMEROY STREET SCHOOL.

tinued during all these years. Its progress has

been slow but sure. There have been 184 names

on the rolls. There have been losses by deaths,

suspensions and dimits and the present member

ship is 90 members in good standing. The officers,
1899, are : F. P. Hakes, H. P.; H. T. Dana, K.;
E. E. Ellis, S.; C. F. Thompson, Treas.; George
H. Kennedy, Sec'y.; C. S. Bull, C. ofH.; George
L. Warren, P. S.; T. T. Bates, R. A. C; J. W.

Ginn, M. 3 V.; F. W. Higgins, M. 2 V.; J. R.

Birdlebough; M. 1 V.; Rob't Otto, Sentinel; I.
Whiteson, H. T. Dana, C. L. Ingalls, Trustees.

Cortland Commandery, No. 50, Knights Tem

plar, was constituted Oct. 24, 1870, by virtue of a

dispensation issued by the Grand Commandery
of Knights Templar of the State of New York,
dated Oct. 17, 1870, the charter members having
received the orders in St. Augustine Commandery
at Ithaca. The first officers were : W. H. Crane,
Commander; A. Sager, Generalissimo ; Geo. L.

Warren, Capt. Gen'L; J. D. Benton, Prel.; M. A.

Rice, Sen. Warden; W. F. Burdick, Jun. Warden;

Geo. Edmund Traver

Stevenson, the third son

of George H. and Sarah

L. Stevenson, was born in

Green Island, N. Y., on

March 1, 1873. He en

teredColgateAcademy in

1889, the Colgate Uni

versity in 1893, being a

member of the Class of

'97, and the Columbian

University, Washington,
D. C, 1894. He became

pastor of the EastWash-

ington Heights Baptist

church the same year,
and was ordained as a Baptist minister Nov. 10,

1895. He was a student in the Theological de

partment of Howard University in '96-'97, and en

tered the University of Chicago in 1897, supplying
the pulpits of the Baptist churches at CusterPark

and Grant Park, 111., during the year '97-'98. He

enteredColgate University (Hamilton Theological

Seminary) April, 1899. He was appointed chap

lain, with the rank of captain, of Gen. Greene B.

Raun's provisional regiment of volunteers in the

war with Spain. Enlisting as a private in Co. H,
First Infantry Illinois U. S. Volunteers, he served
in "the Santiago Campaign." He became pastor

of the Memorial Baptist church, Cortland, Sept. 1,
1899. He received the degrees of A. B. ('96), A.
M- ('97), from the Columbian University; D. B.

from the University of Chicago (April convoca

tion, 1899), and D. B. from Colgate University
(1899). He is a member of the Phi Gamma
Delta fraternity.

^ -a, rsc T
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terian
The Young People's Society, Presbyt

church, was first organized inMarch, 1880. during
the pastorate of Rev. Alfred J. Hutton, D. D.,
under the name of the Young People's Christian

Union. The first president was Dr. James M.

Milne, who acted for two years. The name and

constitution were changed in 1891 to that of the

Young People's Society of Christian Endeavor.
Prof. D. L. Bardwell was the promoter of the

change, and was one of the most efficient workers
at the time. The membership is composed quite

largely of Normal students. Together with the
other societies of the Binghamton Presbytery, it
supports Rev. William Leverett, a in

Hainan, China. It also contributes to the Ashe-

ville Farm School at Asheville, N. C. The pledge
system of systematic giving has been adopted by
the society. The present officers are: President,
Sarah G.Ross; vice-president, Edward H. Bierce;
secretary, Florence H. Churton; treasurer, Sam
uel B. Howe, Jr.

TheWoman's Foreign

Missionary Society of

the Presbyterian church

was organized March 24,

1876, with eightmembers.

The original officers were

as follows: Mrs. Thomas

Street, president; Mrs.

Harrison Givens, first

vice-president;MissMary
Hendrick, second vice-

president; Mrs. Henry
Benton, third vice-presi

dent;Miss ClaraE.Booth,
secretary and treasurer.

The society now numbers

about sixty members, and

its contributions during
the past year amounted to

$^7.50. The total amount

contributed to foreign

missions since the organi

zation of the society has

been $4, 160.89. The pres

entofficers are: Mrs. C. P.

Walrad, president; Mrs.

T. D. P. Stone, first vice-

president; Mrs. L. D.

Garrison, second vice-

president; Miss S. M. Adams, third vice president;

Miss Clara E. Booth, treasurer; Mrs. C. W. Collins,

secretary. During the twenty-three years of its

existence the society has had but three presidents:

Mrs. Thomas Street, Mrs. J. W. Hughes and Mrs.

C. P. Walrad.

and universities. The members of the faculty

have, as the students will confess, the ability to

get a great deal ofwork out of their pupils. These

are some of the impressions made on onewho has

lived in Cortland fourmonths. Because Cortland

is what has been said of it, it is the place for you
to live, for your children to be educated, and for

your manufactories to be located. George E. T.
Stevenson.

The
Ladies'

Catholic Benevolent Association,
Branch 317, was organized at Cortland,N. Y. , Dec.

10, 1896, with a charter list of forty-eight mem

bers. Since that time twenty-two members have

been admitted. The principal officers are at pres

ent: Mrs. Cathrine Colgan, president; Miss Mary
C. Dowd, recorder; Mrs. Mary C. Maher, finan
cial secretary; Miss Anna Haben, treasurer.

Business meetings are held in Empire Hall

the second and fourth Wednesday evenings of

each month. The
Ladies'

Catholic Benevolent

Butler, Photo.

Impressions of Cortland. It is a beautiful vil

lage! It is a hustling village! It is amoral vil

lage! It is an educational center! Cortland is

beautiful, because nature has made the valley in

which it is situated beautiful. The beauty of the

village has been increased by the fine residences

with large lawns and asphalt pavement. It is a

hustling village, because of the kind of people

that live in it and the manufactories that are lo

cated there, some shops running day and night.

The right to term Cortland a moral place is that

of comparison. Compare it with any village of

its population in the state or nation, and you will

find less lawlessness andmore influences that tend

toward good morals in Cortland. The State Nor

mal school, which is located in Cortland, ranks

among the very best of
such schools in the United

States. Its faculty is composed of men andwomen

who are graduates of some of our best colleges

SCHERMERHORN STREET SCHOOL.

association was first organized April 9, 1890. It

was the first insurance association in the world

composed of and managed, entirely bywomen. It
has received the commendation of the New York

and Pennsylvania Insurance departments for its

correct business methods and excellent records,

as shown by examination of the books at the su

preme office. At present the association is in ad

vance of all other beneficiary organizations in

point of growth.

The Woman's Foreign Missionary Society of

the First M. E. church of Cortland was organ

ized by Mrs. Jessie Peck Feb. 17, 1873, with the

following officers: President, Mrs. James Hoose;
vice-presidents, Mrs. A. Roe, Mrs. H. Hubbard,
Mrs. F. Place, Mrs. L. A. Bidwell andMrs. I. Hat

field; recording secretary, Mrs. L. L. Naylor; cor

responding secretary, Mrs. T. B. Stowell; treas

urer, Mrs. A. T. Tanner. The present officers of

the society are: President, Mrs. J. L. Maritt; vice-

presidents, Mrs. O. A. Houghton, Mrs. E. B. Nash,
Mrs. Geo. Hiller, Mrs. Geo. Conable and Mrs. E.

Oakley; recording secretary, Mrs. F. M. Snyder;
corresponding secretary, Miss Myra Haskins;
treasurer, Mrs. M. L. Alexander.
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S. N. Holden & Co., dealers in Lehigh Valley

coal, feed, salt, lumber, etc., in 1895, succeeded

S. N. Holden to the business which was es

tablished in May, 1889, by Holden & Seager near

the Lehigh Valley depot. In 1890 the latter firm

laid out the large yards which the former now

occupy at Squires street crossingwith the Lehigh

Valley railroad, and constructed spacious and

substantial buildings in which to furnish cover

for most of the supplies, including a main coal

shed 150 x 30 feet, a feed, lime and plaster ware
house 30x90 feet, a lumber and shingle shed 50x

80 feet, and barns and auxiliary buildings for

storing coal, lime, plaster, etc. At the entrance

to the grounds, with scales for weighing coal

under cover, is a pleasant office building. With

ample yard accommodations and track facilities

for unloading cars, S. N. Holden & Co. are able

to handle a very large business, amounting to as
high as 5,000 tons of coal and 150 car loads of

feed in a year. The buildings, neatly painted, are
convenient for the work of unloading the cars

and loading the wagons. In 1895 Messrs. Hol

den & Seager dissolved partnership, the latter

retiring from the firm, and in May, 1898, Mr. H.

W. Chaplin was admitted as a partner with Hol

den, constituting S. N. Holden & Co. The busi

ness office, located at No. 41 Main street, is in

telephonic communication with the yard office,
No. 27 Squires street. S. N. Holden, who is the
president of the village, elected in March, on

the regular Republican ticket, was born in Har

ford, Cortland Co., Dec. 26, 1843, and worked the
farm with his father after leaving school, until

August, 1862, when he enlisted in Company E,
One Hundred and Fifty-seventh New York Vol

unteers, then being mustered in at Cortland. He

went through the campaigns of the Army of the
Potomac with his regiment, which was made a

part of the Eleventh Corps, participating in the

important engagements before Fredericksburgh,
at Chancellorsville, and on July 1st at Gettys-

burgh. Mr. Holden was captured at Gettys-

burgh and for three months incarcerated in Libby
Prison. He was paroled at Annapolis, and subse

quently when exchanged returned to his regi

ment, then in SouthCarolina, continuing in active

service until the close of the war, and being mus-

S. N. HOLDEN. (Hyatt, Photos.) HARRY CHAPLIN.

tered out at Charleston July 10, 1865. He le-

turned north and for two years worked for Geo.

W. Truesdell at Dryden. For twenty years he

was in mercantile business at Harford, and in

May, 1889, moved to Cortland. On Jan. 11, 1872,

he married. Lillian Wattles of Ripley, Chautauqua

county, and they have one daughter, Louise. Mr.

Holden, prominently identified with the Republi

can party, was postmaster of Harford ten or twelve

years. He is a member of the Masonic order and

of the G. A. R. H.W. Chaplin was born in Mes-

sengerville Oct. 31, 1874, and attended the high

school at Cortland. On Jan. 1, 1892, he went -to

work for Holden & Seager, and continued with

them and with Mr. Holden after the dissolution

of the firm up to the time he became one of the

firm of Holden & Co.
,
which was on May 21, 1898.

He married Anna L. Muncey on Dec. 31, 1895.

HOLD
COA L WOOD

'

Borrowed Photo. S. N. HOLDEN & CO.'S COAL YARDS.
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R. A. Stowell & Co.We are pleased to pre

sent on this page the photo engraving of one of

Cortland's busy department stores. The firm is

known all over the country as R. A. Stowell & Co.

The picture in the left hand corner is of Mr. R. A.

Stowell, and in the right hand corner is Mr. M.

W. Giles. The above men are both young and

active. Their store is most centrally located

on Main street, directly opposite the Fireman's

hall. The large view picture shows a small por

tion of their store, as you enter the door. The

success of this firm is mainly due to the careful

buying and selling while advertising in various

ways. Mr. Stowell is interested in several large

agement and support of members of this asso

ciation, when in sickness, distress, out of em

ployment, or on travel; for the inspiration of

truth, hope, charity, and the protection, educa

tion and elevation of all members; and to secure

to their families or heirs, in case of death the sum

of $500, $1,000, $1,500, or $2,000, as the members

shall elect at the time of becoming a member, to

be assessed on all the members in good stand

ing. The Branch was instituted with the follow

ing 34 charter members : John F. Dowd, Dan

iel T. Dolan, James B. Carroll, Richard F. Mc

Carthy, Henry Corcoran, John T. Davern, Frank

Corcoran, Joseph P. McLoughlin, George Mc-

R. A. Stowell. R. A. STOWELL & CO.

View by
HarrisBorrowed Portraits.

M. W. Giles.

department stores, all locatedin Central
NewYork,

with headquarters in Syracuse. Mr. Giles has the

management of the Cortland store and resides in

town. Their motto is: "Quick Sales and Small

Profits"
in selling lamps, china,

tinware and house-

furnishing goods.

St. riary's Branch, No. 108 of the C. M. B. A.

of Cortland, N. Y., was organized Sept. 30, 1887,

in the Emerald Hose Company parlors by District

Deputy Joseph E. Gaunder of Syracuse, N. Y.,

assisted by District Deputy Daniel Sheehan of

Elmira, N. Y. Its purposes are for the encour-

Kean, John A.Nix, James Dowd,Richard J. Kelly,

John J. Colgan, Jr., Frank D. Dowd, Dennis

Woods, John Harrington, Michael McSweeney,

Andrew J. McSweeney, GeorgeHay, John Mullin,

John H. Ryan, David E. McAuliff, Patrick Little

ton, John Kane, Arthur Lucy, Peter Nodecker, J.

H. O'Leary, L.J. Fitzgerald, P. H. Dowd, James

McNamara, Daniel O'Connell, John Liddane, John

C. Hannon and Alex McNamara. Following is

the list comprising the first term officers : Rev.

B. F. McLoghlin, spiritual adviser ; JohnF. Dowd,
president ; Daniel T. Dolan, first vice-president ;

James B. Carroll, second vice-president; Richard
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F. McCarthy, recording secretary ; Henry Cor

coran, assistant recording secretary ; John
Lid-

dane, financial secretary ; John T. Davern, treas

urer ; Frank Corcoran, marshal ; Joseph P. Mc-

Loughlin, guard ; George McKean, John A. Nix,

James Dowd, trustees for one year ; Richard J.

Kelly, John Colgan, Jr., trustees for two years.

About seven years ago the Branch moved into

their present pleasant and commodious quarters,

which occupy the entire third floor of the
"
Em

pire Hall
block,"

formerly known as theMasonic

Hall block. From the 34 charter members in

1887 the Branch has grown to 158 in 1899, and

financially is in the best of shape. But seven

deaths have occurred within the history of the

Branch as follows : George Hay, Nov. 3,

COUNTY CLERK AND SURROGATE'S OFFICE.

Board of
Supervisors' Rooms.

Butler, Photo. Erected 1877.

James A. Dowd, Sept. 18, 1893 ; James B. Buckley,

Jan. 25, 1894; Richard Lillis, July 8, 1894; Rich

ard McMahon, Sept. 16, 1894 ; Francis Johnson,

Nov. 10, 1896 ; James Heaphy, June 8, 1898. The

officers 1899 are : Rev. J. J. McLoghlin, spirit

ual adviser ; John Lynch, president ; PerryWhit

marsh, first vice-president ; George F. O'Brien,
second vice-president; M. L. Quinlivan, recording

secretary ; John Drake, assistant recording secre

tary ; Thomas E. Kennedy, financial secretary ;

M. T. Roche, treasurer ; James Dowd, marshal ;

M. J. Dillon, guard ; John A. Kennedy, Thomas

Drake, Thomas Allen, William F.Walsh, William

Dalton, trustees.

IMPRESSIONS OF CORTLAND.

My impressions of Cortland ? Theywere formed

some years before I became a resident. I was de

lightfully entertained for a week in one of the

Christian homes of which Cortland has so

many, and for which she is justly esteemed,

during the session of the Central New York

annual conference of our church. It was late

in the month of September some years ago.

The groves that cover the surrounding hills were

ablaze with their rich, bright, autumnal tints.

The skies took on that dreamy, hazy loveliness
peculiar to the season. What wonder if I stole

out from the grinding routine of the conference

business and mademy way out and up on to one of

the glorious hills that stand about this favored

village as the mountains stand about the ancient

Zion of God. I looked down upon Cortland from

midair. Her many church spires pointed like sol

emn fingers heavenward. The valley, with its

winding river, stretched out before me. I was

entranced with the loveliness of the view. Many
times since, in summer and autumn, I have in the

same way been enraptured. I have viewed the

scene from every point of the compass, and as

often thought, "The people of Cortland need not

go abroad for fine
scenery."

I know of no village

in the country that equals her in this respect.

There are two other physical features for which

the people may be especially thankful. They are
pure air and pure water. By reason of her great

altitude Cortland enjoys a delightfully clear at

mosphere, and a larger percentage of bright,

sunny days than most towns of Central New

York. Her water supply is exceptionally pure

and sweet. The greatest material blessings any
people can have are those that best minister to

their common necessities. The great Saviour of

the world comes to us, not under the figure of

pastry or confectionery, but as plain bread and

water. He is the bread of God and the water of

life. He, therefore, freely supplies men's deep
est necessities.

By reason of our strong churches and large

Sunday-schools that live and labor together^ in

delightful harmony, and our superior educational

advantages, crowned as they are by our well ap
pointed and. efficient

"Normal,"
so justly distin

guished among the schools of the State of like

character and grade, the better influences predom

inate in our village. Thanks to the old Homer

academy that years ago diffused an educational

spirit throughout the population
,
and raised up a

race of fathers and mothers that appreciated and

fostered the educational advantages and religious

privileges that have resulted in our present pres

tige, and that make our village so desirable for

residence in these later years. Our homes and

streets are literally filled with youth and beauty,

giving a freshness of joy and life not found in

many other towns. For this reason all loyal and

true citizens will join hands to rid the village of

all depraving influences and objectionable things,
thatparents all over the Statemay feel safe in com

mitting their sons and daughters to our keeping.

The presence in our midst of so large a corps of

teachers, among whom are numbered some of the

distinguished educators of the State, is a fact in

which we may rejoice, and of which we may be

justly proud.
Of Cortland's industries her steam whistles

speak most thrillingly every morning, noon and

night. Idleness and. poverty are reduced to the

minimum.

Of Cortland's many other good points and real

attractions others have written and will continue

to write. What more is needed, aside from the

helpful Spirit of God, that we may live an ideally
quiet and happy life ? O. A. Houghton.
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Big Fire of '83.On the morning of Nov. 28,

1883, flames broke out in Haynor & Bristol's gro

cery and bakery in the Barber block on Groton

avenue, the site now occupied by theOpera House.
The block was a two-story frame building, the

ground floor occupied by Haynor & Bristol, R.
Beard & Son, furniture, and R. B. Fletcher, un
dertaker. It was a freezing cold night, with a

strong wind blowing, and the firemen stood for

hours with their trousers frozen stiff. C. E. In-

galls was the chief of the department. The

steamer was connected with a hydrant at the cor

ner of Main and Clinton streets, where it pumped

two streams, one through the rear of the hotel on

the north side of the block, and the other through
the front part. TheCortlandWagon Co. 's steamer

stoodatMain andCourt streets, and suppliedwater

through one line of hose. The Cortland House,
a four-story brick building at the corner of Main

street and Groton avenue, with a four-story brick
addition on Groton avenue, together with the

Barber block, was destroyed. Homer, in response
to a request for assistance, sent a steamer, which,

prevailed, but during the night rain fell. Every

fire apparatus available was pressed into service,

including three steamers Cortland, Homer and

the Cortland Wagon Co.'s two hose companies,

the Emerald and Orris, and a hand engine. The

citizens turned out en masse to witness the de

structive conflagration, and every man who could

find a place at the brake assisted in working the

hand engine. Mrs. Charles Cook, who kept a
hair-dressers'

establishment in the second story of

the Garrison block, was carried out nearly over

come with smoke. Mrs. Seamans, an invalid, also

had to be carried out of the second story of the

Union block. Therewere manywooden buildings

south of the Union block which were threatened,
but were saved. H. M. Kellogg, hardware, and

Kirkland Bros., grocers, occupied the first floorof

the Wickwire building. It was reported that the

loss of the former was $11,000, and his insurance

$10,000. Kirkland
Bros.'

loss was reported to be

$3,300, and insurance $2,300. Wickwire
Bros.'

loss

on building was reported at $8,000, and on prop

erty stored on the second floor $5,000, their total

(Copied).

planted in front of Benjamin's marble works,

furnished three streams ofwater. The conflagra

tion lasted three hours. The losses and insurance

reported were: Barber block, loss $10,000, insur

ance $6,000; R. Beard & Son, loss $7,ooo; insur

ance $4,000; R. B. Fletcher, loss $1,500,
insurance

$1,100; Haynor & Bristol, loss about the same as

insurance, $400. Miss Frankie Porter, milliner,

occupied one store in the hotel and sustained a

total loss. Mr. Barber lived in the second story of

his block and sustained partial loss. The hotel

loss was about $50,000, insurance $19,000.

Destructive Fire of
'84.About 1 a. m. Feb.

20, 1884, fire broke out in a covered entrance in

the rear of theWickwire block, on the east side

of Main street, and
destroyed that building, two

stories in front and three in the rear,
together with

the Garrison block four-story brick on the north,

also damaging the Union Hall block four-story

brick on the south, andMrs. ThomasKeator's resi

dence north of the Garrison block. M F. Cleary

was chief of the fire department. A high wind

OLD COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE. (Erected 1819).

insurance being about $5,500. Others burned out

were: L. T. White, dentist; T. P. Button, barber;

L. D. Garrison & Co., grocers; Tanner Bros., dry

goods; Mrs. Charles Cook, hair goods; C. W. Col

lins, chinaware; S. E. Welch, dry goods; J. & T.

E. Courtney, lawyers; Miss Seamans, millinery;

I. H. Palmer, lawyer. This fire led to the agita

tion for a fire boundary, and I. H. Palmer and

John W. Suggett were appointed by the board of

trustees as a committee tomake recommendations.

The
Ladies'

and
Pastors'

Union of the First

M. E. church was organized in 1881. The object

of the society is to assist the pastor and to develop

and stimulate social activity in all departments of

church work. The officers of the society are:

President, MissEffieA. Allen; first vice-president,

Mrs. Martin Edgcomb ; second vice-president,

Mrs. F. J. Doubleday; secretary, Mrs. Mira Has-

kins; treasurer, Mrs. M. L.Alexander; executive

committee, Mrs. George Conable, Mrs. Fred Con-

able, Mrs. Julia F. Twiss, Mrs. Geo. P. Yager.
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James M. ITilne, well known in educational

circles as an ardent supporter at Albany of the

state system of higher education, as a prolific

writer on educational and other topics,as a speaker

and as the author of a practical system for teach

ing higher grammar which he has prepared for

the press, has been a resident of Cortland for sev

eral years. It was here, where he was principal of

the academic department of the Cortland Normal

school during 1873 and the three following years

and where he filled the chair of Latin and Greek

in the same institution from 1877 to 1889, that Dr.

Milne began a twenty-one
years'

career as in

structor. Finally, through his work at Albany,

and among the educational associations, as well

as through his writings, his services were requi

sitioned in an extended field of- operation and his

acquaintanceship became quite large.

In 1889 he was called upon to accept the re

sponsibility of getting a new school on firm legs

and safely started in that field of bitter competi

tion for public favor which every candidate for

pupils in the higher branches of education in this

state is required to run. Two days after Governor

Hill had signed the Arnold bill creating an One

onta Normal school, the local board met and its

first act was to elect Dr. Milne the principal.

This was April 19, 1888, before ground had been

staked out, and a year before the school was

opened. The testimonials Dr. Milne brought

with him from Oneonta when, nine years later he

retired from that position to devote his time to

law and literary pursuits, speak louder than the
"

trumpet's brazen
note"

of the success he had

achieved. It is just and fair to add, that he placed

that school among the leading Normal schools of
the state and the people of Oneonta give him credit

for doing so. Upon Dr. Milne's return to Cort

land in 1898, he settled down to active work in his

enlarged field of labor, giving some of his time

to the lecture platform and taking the opportun

ity to complete his school grammar and get it on
to the press. Another field of usefulness, un

sought, was opened up to him in Cortland.

When the Democratic county committee of 1899
organized he was induced to accept the position

-;:
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of chairman, which, such as it is in a party abso

lutely in the minority, offered no reward beyond

the self consciousness of performing one's duty
to his party. In the localpolitical contest of that

year, however, Dr. Milne rallied to his support

the full party strength and, with the influence of

experienced Democrats behind him, succeeded in

securing a victory for the Democratic candidates

for commissioners in the two school districts, the

only officers upon which the two parties made a

bitter fight.

Dr. Milne was born in Scotland, Sept. 29, 1850,
and received his early education in the schools of

Edinburgh. He is a graduate of the State Nor

mal school at Geneseo and of the Rochester uni

versity at Rochester ; and afterward studied at

Heidelburg, Germany, and has received the de

gree of Ph. D. from Col

gate university, Hamil

ton, N. Y. He is a life

member and has been the

president ofthe NewYork

State Teachers'
associa

tion and has occupied the

high position ofPresident
of the Normal Depart

ment of the National Ed

ucational association. He

has also been amember of

the American Philologi

cal association. In the

Masonic order he belongs

to the Oneonta lodge, F.
& A. M., and the chapter
R. A. M. ofOneonta, is a
Sir Knight in the Malta

Commandery of B i n g-

hamton and is one of the

Cypress Shriners of Al

bany. He is also a mem

ber of the Tioughnioga

club of Cortland. In 1880

he was married to Susan

M., the oldest daughter
of the late Jas. A. Scher

merhorn of Cortland.

:
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John and Thomas E. Courtney formed a co

partnership for the practice of law April 1, 1881,

with offices in the Burgess block, which were

moved to their present location in the Taylor

Opera House block in 1888. John Courtney was

born in Homer, N. Y., July 11, 1853, and attended

the Homer academy and the Cortland Normal

school. He studiedwith W. J. Mantanye, Warren

& Kellogg and Judge R. H. Duell. While engaged

in pursuing his studies he taught school for two

years at Truxton, a year and a half at Marathon,
(where he was principal of the Union school) and

a year at Preble. He was admitted to the bar at

Albany in 1879. When Augustus Garland was at

torney general under President Cleveland, Mr.

Courtney served for three years as special assist

ant attorney, and was recognized as the repre

sentative of the Democratic administration in the

county of Cortland. Thomas E- Courtney was

born in Homer Dec. 22, 1857. He was educated at

Homer academy, Cortland Normal school, Caze

novia seminary and Hamilton college. Mr. Court

ney studied law with R. H. Duell andWarren &

Kellogg, and was admitted to the bar of the State

June 16, 1880, at Utica, after which he entered the

office of A. P. Smith, county judge and surrogate,
where he practiced from June, 1880, to April, 1881,
when he entered into co-partnership with his

brother. He is a Republican in politics. J. & T.

E. Courtney have been retained in important cases
in this locality, having also a considerable law

business from outside the county.

The Sunday=School Missionary society of the

First M. E. church was organized in 1875 by Rev.

John Alabasta, at that time pastor of the church.

It is auxiliary to the regular missionary society of

the Methodist Episcopal church. Its present of

ficers are as follows : President, Miss Bessie Mor

gan ; first vice-president, Miss Lena R. Conable ;

second vice-president, Miss Carrie R. Kellogg ;

third vice-president, Miss Maud Grannis ; secre

tary, Miss Mary Gillette ; treasurer, Vernon Peck.
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The Cortland Athletic Association was organ

ized Dec. 7, 1893, and incorporated in 1895. After

the disbandment of the old Forty-fifth Separate

Company, N. G. S. N.Y., which had developed the

famous tug of war team that had won the cham

pionship of the State against several of the strong

est teams, the members of the military company

and a few of the outside athletes of the placemet

about a week before the above date and appointed

a committee to nominate officers and draw up a

suitable constitution for an athletic organization.

The result was the present organization. The first

officers were: President, Dr. E. M. Santee; vice-

president, F. H. Monroe; secretary, E. B. Rich

ardson; treasurer, C. F. Barker; athletic captain,

Frank H. Monroe; cycling captain, E. B. Richard

son. A lease was at once

made with C. E. Rowley
for the famous RandalL

mansion for a club house,
and it was opened to the

members on Christmas

day following the organ

ization. The military

company had given the

new organization allof its

gymnasium outfit and a

very little furniture,
which was soon added to,
and on or about New

Year's day the opening
reception was held. This

function was attended by
Cortland's best people,

and was a very success

ful affair. The following
summer a Field day was
held at the driving park

that was attended by the
most famous cyclists in

the country. Thiswas fol

lowed by other notable

meets that are subj ects for

many a club house remi

niscence even to this day.

On Oct. 30, 1896, the old


